No. 42919-5-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

JOHN ALLEN BOOTH, JR.,

Appellant.

---

On Appeal from the Lewis County Superior Court  
Cause No. 10-1-00485-2  
The Honorable Richard Brosey, Judge

---

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

STEPHANIE C. CUNNINGHAM  
Attorney for Appellant  
WSBA No. 26436

4616 25th Avenue NE, No. 552  
Seattle, Washington 98105  
Phone (206) 526-5001

##

## **I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. The trial court erred when it refused John Booth's proposed "to-convict" instructions, which correctly instructed the jury on its powers and obligations.
2. The "to-convict" instructions erroneously stated the jury had a "duty to return a verdict of guilty" if it found each element proved beyond a reasonable doubt.
3. The State failed to present sufficient evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt all of the elements of attempted extortion in the first degree.

## **II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO THE ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. In a criminal trial, does a "to-convict" instruction, which informs the jury that it has a duty to return a verdict of guilty if it finds the elements have been proven beyond a reasonable doubt, violate a defendant's right to a jury trial, when there is no such duty under the state and federal Constitutions? (Assignments of Error 1 & 2)
2. Where the evidence at most established that John Booth might have expressly or implicitly communicated some sort of threat, did the State fail to prove that John Booth intended to commit the crime of first degree extortion by use of a

threat of bodily injury and fail to prove that Booth took a substantial step towards commission of this specific crime?  
(Assignment of Error 3)

### **III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### **A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY**

The State charged John Allen Booth with: (count 1) second degree murder of David West, Sr. (RCW 9A.32.050); (count 2) first degree premeditated murder of David West, Jr. (RCW 9A.32.050); (count 3) first degree premeditated murder of Tony Williams (RCW 9A.32.050); (count 4) attempted first degree murder of Denise Salts (RCW 9A.32.030); (count 5) attempted first degree extortion (RCW 9A.56.110, .120); and (count 6) first degree unlawful possession of a firearm (RCW 9.41.040). (CP 69-76) The State also alleged that the offenses were aggravated because Booth was armed with a firearm during commission of the offenses (RCW 9.94A.602) (counts one through five); because the multiple offense policy would result in some offenses going unpunished (RCW 9.94A.535(2)(c) (counts one through six); and because Booth demonstrated an egregious lack of remorse (RCW 9.94A.535(3)(q)) (counts two and three). (CP 69-76)

Booth filed a number of pretrial motions, including a motion



to suppress evidence, a motion to dismiss (Knapstad motion), and a motion for a change of venue, but the trial court denied the motions. (10/28/11 RP 66-78, 92-106; 11/21/11 RP 2-7; CP 52-56, 77, 89-315, 452-56)<sup>1</sup>

The jury found Booth guilty on all charges, and found that all alleged aggravators were present. (12/15/12 RP 120-23; CP 557-69) The trial court found that Booth is a persistent offender and sentenced him to a term of life in prison. (12/16/11 RP 34-36; CP 635, 636, 638)

#### B. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS

David West. Sr., his son David West, Jr., and his girlfriend Denise Salts, all lived together in a house on 101 Wings Way in Lewis County. (12/09/11 RP 127-28, 129) Their friend Tony Williams was visiting West Sr. and Salts on the night of August 20-21, 2010. (12/09/11 RP 132-33) Sometime around midnight, West Sr.'s friend, John Lindberg, also arrived at the house to visit. (12/07/11 RP 116, 117-18) As he approached the house in his car, he noticed another car pulling into West's driveway. (12/07/11 RP 119, 120) The second car parked facing towards the road, and two

---

<sup>1</sup> Citations to the transcripts in this case will be to the date of the proceeding followed by the page number.

men got out. ((12/07/11 RP 120)

Lindberg and the two men all approached the house at the same time, were ushered into the kitchen, and sat down at the table. (12/07/11 RP 121-22) West Sr. introduced Lindberg to the two other men, John Booth and Ryan McCarthy. (12/07/11 RP 124; 12/09/11 RP 132)

According to Lindberg, West Sr. and Booth discussed a truck, and Booth asked to see pictures of it. (12/07/11 RP 128) West Sr. went to his computer in another room and retrieved pictures to show Booth. (12/07/11 RP 128, 129) Then Booth asked West Sr. if they could step outside to talk. (12/07/11 RP 130) Booth and West Sr. went outside together, and when they returned a short time later, West Sr. asked Lindberg if he had any money. (12/07/11 RP 130, 131, 146)

Lindberg then followed West Sr. into the master bedroom, where they discussed how much money Lindberg could give West Sr. (12/07/11 RP 146-47, 148) According to Lindberg, West Sr. grabbed a shotgun and declared "Fuck it. I'm going to end this bullshit once and for all." (12/07/11 RP 148) Lindberg saw West Sr. cock and raise the shotgun, then walk out of the room. (12/07/11 RP 149) He heard West Sr. tell Booth and McCarthy to

leave, then he heard the sound of three to four gunshots and saw West Sr. fall to the ground. (12/07/11 RP 149, 151, 201-02)

Denise Salts, who was outside in the garden, heard the sound of gunfire coming from inside the house. (12/09/11 RP 139-40) She entered the house through the kitchen door, and saw McCarthy sitting at the kitchen table and Booth standing next to him. (12/09/11 RP 141) Then she noticed that West Sr. was sitting on the floor and he appeared to be in pain. (12/09/11 RP 141, 149)

According to Salts, she turned to go back out the door, but Booth closed it and asked if she was going to call the police. (12/09/11 RP 141-42, 151) Salts testified that she could not remember exactly what happened next, but she does recall that Booth shot her in the face. (12/09/11 RP 142)

Lindberg testified that he could hear Salts talking in the kitchen, then heard a bang, then heard what he believed was Salts falling to the floor. (12/07/11 RP 151) He also heard Tony Williams saying, "Don't. Don't. You don't have to shoot." (12/07/11 RP 152) He then heard a fumbling sound, followed by another gunshot. (12/07/11 RP 152) When Lindberg looked out of the bedroom, he saw Booth holding the gun and firing at West Sr.'s head. (RP 154)

While Booth was turned away, Lindberg ran towards the

master bathroom and closed the door. (12/07/11 RP 154-55) He then heard another bang and the sound of another person falling to the floor. (12/07/11 RP 154-55) After hiding in the bathroom for about 20-30 minutes, Lindberg ventured out. (12/07/11 RP 156) He saw no sign of Booth or McCarthy, so he ran out of the house, got in his car, and drove away. (12/07/11 RP 157-58)

A neighbor called 911, and several units responded. (12/07/11 RP 214-15, 12/12/11 RP 208-09; 12/13/11 RP 33, 109, 113) On his way to the scene, Lewis County Sheriff's Deputy Mathew Wallace passed Lindberg's car as it sped away from the West home. (12/07/11 RP 160, 217-18) Lindberg pulled to the side of the road and Wallace stopped his vehicle and contacted Lindberg. (12/07/11 RP 218-19) A visibly shaken Lindberg told Wallace what had happened. (12/07/11 RP 160, 219, 220) Lindberg told Wallace that he believed Booth was the shooter, and Lindberg subsequently identified Booth from a photo montage that Wallace created. (12/07/11 RP 160-61, 233-34, 235)

Responding officers found West Sr.'s body propped against a wall near the dining room, West Jr.'s body between an end table and a couch in the living room, and Williams' body on the floor in the hallway. (12/07/11 RP 25, 27, 33; 12/09/11 RP 68-69; 12/12/11 RP

215) The cocked shotgun was resting by West Sr.'s side. (12/08/11 RP 165, 169-70; 12/12/11 RP 215, 221) Salts was found lying on the kitchen floor, wounded but alive. (12/13/12 RP 193)

West Sr. sustained three gunshot wounds: one to his abdomen and one to his thigh, neither of which were necessarily fatal, and one fatal shot to his head. (12/08/11 RP 51-57) West Jr. sustained two gunshot wounds: one to his chest, which was survivable if medical treatment was received, and one to his head, which was fatal. (12/08/11 RP 36-47) Williams died from a single gunshot to his head. (12/08/11 RP 58-61)

Around seven in the morning on August 21st, Gregory Sage received a phone call from Booth. (12/09/11 RP 110, 112-13) According to Sage, Booth sounded "frantic," and he told Sage that someone pulled a gun on him and he "had to drop him." (12/09/11 RP 113)

The search for Booth eventually lead police to a home in Spokane, where they identified and arrested Booth. (12/13/11 RP 59-60; 62-64) The homeowner testified that a friend brought Booth to his house on August 21, and that Booth stayed with him for several nights. (12/07/11 RP 70, 71-72; 12/12/11 RP 230)

While he was in custody awaiting trial, all of Booth's phone

calls were monitored and recorded. (12/13/11 RP 13-14) One call in particular caught the attention of investigators. In that call, Booth can be heard talking to a friend in Spokane, and telling the friend that he is concerned that he left a "heater" on in the attic of the Spokane home where he had stayed. (12/13/11 RP 15, 18-19; Exh. 107) Investigators believed that the word "heater" was actually a reference to Booth's firearm. (12/13/11 RP 18-19)

Spokane detectives returned to the home with a search warrant, and found a 9mm handgun hidden in the attic. (12/07/11 RP 86, 89, 94) DNA matching Booth was found on the handgun. (12/09/11 RP 92, 94, 95) And photographs saved on Booth's cellular phone show Booth holding a similar handgun. (12/12/11 RP 239)

The undamaged bullets collected from the West home were analyzed and determined to have been fired from that handgun. (12/12/11 RP 30, 38, 41-42, 45, 49, 54) The damaged bullets could not be matched to the handgun, but could not be excluded either. (12/12/11 RP 49-50) Investigators found no indication that a second weapon was fired at the West home that night. (12/13/11 RP 132-33)

Several witnesses testified about their prior contacts with

Booth. Raymond Hankins testified that he met Booth in February of 2010. (12/12/11 RP 163) Hankins owed money to a man named Robbie Russell, and Booth was with Russell when he came to collect money from Hankins. (12/12/11 RP 163-64, 165) Booth returned on August 20th, accompanied by McCarthy, to discuss payment for the remainder of Hankins' debt. (12/12/11 RP 167) Hankins testified that Booth did not make any threats. (12/12/11 RP 171)

Linn Perry testified that he encountered Booth at Perry's son's house in July of 2010. (12/12/11 RP 174-75) Booth told Perry that his son owed Booth money. (12/12/11 RP 176) According to Perry, Booth told him he had killed someone over money before, and would kill Perry's son too if he did not pay the debt. (12/12/11 RP 176-77) Perry believed that the statements were merely bravado, and did not believe that Booth's threat was genuine. (12/12/11 RP 179-80)

Lashawana Wolfe met Booth in mid-August of 2010. They spent an evening together drinking and flirting. (12/12/11 RP 126, 127-28, 132) As Booth drove Wolfe and another man from one bar to another, Booth indicated to Wolfe that he had weapons in his car. (12/12/11 RP 131-32) Booth also told Wolfe that he and his

friend worked as painters in Tacoma, but they also worked on the side as “taxers”—people who collect drug debts. (12/12/11 RP 133) According to Wolfe, Booth told her that he and his friend were in Lewis County on “business.” (12/12/11 RP 133)

According to Wolfe, she accompanied Booth and his friend to a house on Wings Way. (12/12/11 RP 134-35) As she waited in the car for Booth to finish his business, she opened the glove box and saw a gun. (12/12/11 RP 136-37) After they left, Booth said he got some of his money, but not all of it. (12/12/11 RP 139) About a week later, she heard about the shootings at that same house on Wings Way. (12/12/11 RP 137-38)

Jessica Porter is West Sr.’s daughter. (12/12/11 RP 182) She and her family arrived at West’s house for a visit on August 7, 2010. (12/12/11 RP 185, 198) The next day, Russell, Booth and McCarthy came to the house. (12/12/11 RP 187) Booth sat in the living room talking to West Jr., while Russell and West Sr. talked privately in the bedroom. (12/12/11 RP 188-89) According to Porter, Russell came out of the bedroom, winked at Booth, then they left. (12/12/11 RP 190)

After they left, West Sr. immediately told Porter that she and her family needed to go home. (12/12/11 RP 190) Porter thought



her father's behavior was odd. (12/12/11 RP 190) Porter's boyfriend, Shane Reynolds, also thought West Sr. seemed upset and scared after the visit from Russell, Booth and McCarthy. (12/12/11 RP 197, 203)

Ryan Miller testified that he and Booth worked together in the summer of 2010. (12/12/11 RP 114) On Friday, August 19th, Booth told him that there was a man in town who owed him \$20,000, and that he might be getting that money over the weekend. (12/12/11 RP 115)

On August 20th, West Sr. called his friend, Robert Downing, and offered to sell Downing his boat. (12/12/11 RP 119) West Sr. purchased the boat for about \$6500, but he offered it to Downing for just \$1000. (12/12/11 RP 121-22)

Booth testified at trial on his own behalf. He and West Sr. knew each other because they both sell drugs. (12/14/11 RP 61) In July of 2010, Booth "fronted" West Sr. a pound of methamphetamine, worth \$14,000. (12/14/11 RP 61-62) They agreed that West Sr. would pay Booth in one week, but the following week West Sr. only gave Booth \$5,000. (12/14/11 RP 62) They agreed that West Sr. would pay Booth \$1,000 a week until the debt was paid off. (12/14/11 RP 62)

On August 20th, West Sr. called Booth and said he had money to pay Booth. (12/14/11 RP 62-63) When Booth arrived at the home, West Sr. did not have any money. (12/14/11 RP 63) West Sr. told Booth that he would have the money later that night, so Booth arranged for his friend to stay at the house until West Sr. had the money. (12/14/11 RP 64) Because Booth had other business to attend to, he left with the expectation that his friend would call him for a ride once he received the money from West Sr. (12/14/11 RP 64) His friend did call him later, and Booth arranged for another friend to pick him up. (12/12/11 RP 64)

The next day, when Booth saw his friend, the friend told Booth what had happened. (12/12/11 RP 65) To help his friend, Booth took the gun his friend had used at the West house, and cleaned off any fingerprints or DNA that his friend might have left on the gun. (12/12/11 RP 65) Later that day Booth started getting calls from friends telling him the police were looking for him, so he decided to flee to Spokane. (12/12/11 RP 67)

Booth denied shooting the people at the West house, and denied being present when the shooting occurred. (12/12/11 RP 86)

#### IV. ARGUMENT & AUTHORITIES

- A. BOOTH'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL WAS VIOLATED BY THE COURT'S "TO-CONVICT" INSTRUCTIONS, WHICH AFFIRMATIVELY MISLED THE JURY ABOUT ITS POWER TO ACQUIT.

Over defense objection, the trial court included the following language in all of the "to-convict" instructions:

If you find from the evidence that each of these elements has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of guilty.

On the other hand, if, after weighing all of the evidence, you have a reasonable doubt as to any one of these elements, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty.

(CP 505-17, 527, 530, 531, 531, 536, 540; 12/14/11 RP 123-26, 139) These instructions misstated the law and violated Booth's right to a properly instructed jury because there is no "duty to convict under either the federal or state constitutions."<sup>2</sup>

##### 1. Standard of Review

Constitutional violations are reviewed *do novo*. Bellevue School Dist. v. E.S., 171 Wn.2d 695, 702, 257 P.3d 570 (2011). Jury instructions are also reviewed *de novo*. State v. Bennett, 161

---

<sup>2</sup> Division One of the Court of Appeals rejected the arguments raised here in its decision in State v. Meggyesy, 90 Wn. App. 693, 958 P.2d 319 (1998). Booth respectfully contends that Meggyesy was incorrectly decided and should not be followed by this Court.

Wn.2d 303, 307, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007). Instructions must make the relevant legal standard manifestly apparent to the average juror. State v. Kylo, 166 Wn.2d 856, 864, 215 P.3d 177 (2009).

2. The United States Constitution

In criminal trials, the right to a jury trial is fundamental to the American scheme of justice. It is guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment and the due process clauses of both the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments.<sup>3</sup> Duncan v. Louisiana, 391 U.S. 145, 156, 88 S. Ct. 1444, 20 L. Ed. 2d 491 (1968); Pasco v. Mace, 98 Wn.2d 87, 94, 653 P.2d 618 (1982).

Trial by jury is not only a valued right of persons accused of a crime, but also an allocation of political power to the citizenry.

[T]he jury trial provisions in the Federal and State constitutions reflect a fundamental decision about the exercise of official power – a reluctance to entrust plenary powers of the life and liberty of the citizen to one judge or to a group of judges. Fear of unchecked power, so typical of our State and Federal Governments in other respects, found expression in the criminal law in this instance upon community participation in the determination of guilt or innocence.

Duncan, 391 U.S. at 156.

---

<sup>3</sup> “In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury[.]” U.S. Const. Amend. VI. “No person shall be . . . deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law[.]” U.S. Const. Amend. V. “[N]or shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law[.]” U.S. Const. Amend. XIV.

### 3. Washington Constitution

The Washington Constitution provides greater protection to its citizens in some areas than does the United States Constitution. State v. Gunwall, 106 Wn.2d 54, 720 P.2d 808 (1986). Under Gunwall, the decision whether to conduct an independent analysis under the state constitution must be based on six factors: (1) the language of the Washington Constitution, (2) differences between the state and federal language; (3) constitutional history; (4) preexisting state law; (5) structural differences; and (6) matters of particular state or local concern. Under the Gunwall analysis, it is clear that the right to a jury trial is such an area, requiring an independent analysis under the Washington State constitution.

#### a. *The Textual Language of the State Constitution*

The drafters of our state constitution not only guaranteed the right to a jury trial,<sup>4</sup> they expressly declared that “[t]he right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate[.]”<sup>5</sup>

The term “inviolable” connotes deserving of the highest protection . . . Applied to the right to trial by jury, this language indicates that the right must remain the

---

<sup>4</sup> “Rights of Accused Persons. In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right . . . to have a speedy public trial by an impartial jury of the county in which the offense is alleged to have been committed . . . .” Wash Const. art. I, § 22. No person “shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law.” Wash. Const. art. I, § 3.

<sup>5</sup> Wash Const. art. I, § 21.

essential component of our legal system that it has always been. For such a right to remain inviolate, it must not diminish over time and must be protected from all assault to its essential guarantees.

Sofie v. Fiberboard Corp., 112 Wn.2d 636, 656, 771 P.2d 711, 780 P.2d 260 (1989). Article I, section 21 “preserves the right [to a jury trial] as it existed in the territory at the time of its adoption.” Mace, 98 Wn.2d 96; State v. Strasburg, 60 Wn. 106, 115, 110 P.2d 1020 (1910). And the right to a trial by jury “should be continued unimpaired and inviolate” Strasburg, 60 Wn. at 115.

Other constitutional protections exist in the Washington constitution to further safeguard this right. For example, a court is not permitted to convey to the jury its own impression of the evidence. Wash. Const. art. IV, § 16.<sup>6</sup> Even a witness may not invade the province of the jury by giving an opinion on the guilt of the accused. State v. Black, 109 Wn.2d 336, 350, 745 P.2d 12 (1987).

The different and more specific language in the Washington constitution suggests the drafters intended different and more expansive protections than those provided by the federal constitution. See Hon. Robert F. Utter, FREEDOM AND DIVERSITY IN A

---

<sup>6</sup> “Judges shall not charge juries with respect to matters of fact, not comment thereon, but shall declare the law.”

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