No. 42919-5-II

THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

JOHN ALLEN BOOTH, JR.,

Appellant.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Washington for Lewis County

Respondent's Brief

JONATHAN L. MEYER Lewis County Prosecuting Attorney

By:

SARA I. BEIGH, WSBA No. 35564 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Lewis County Prosecutor's Office 345 W. Main Street, 2nd Floor Chehalis, WA 98532-1900 (360) 740-1240

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

David West, Sr., Denise Salts and David West, Jr. lived at 101 Wings Way in Lewis County, Washington.¹ RP (12/9/11) 128-29.² West and Salts had been in a dating relationship for approximately 13 years. RP (12/9/11) 127-28. DJ was West's teenage son. RP (12/9/11) 128; RP (12/12/11) 183. West also had a daughter, Jessica Porter, who lived three and half hours away in White Salmon, Washington. RP (12/12/11) 182, 185.

The weekend of August 8, 2010 Porter, her boyfriend Shane Reynolds, and their two children visited West. RP (12/12/11) 197-98. On August 8, 2010 after a day spent at the lake with his family West was paid a visit by Robbie Russell, John Booth and Ryan McCarthy. RP (12/12/11) 186-87. Porter had never seen Booth

¹ The State will refer to David West, Sr., as West and David West, Jr. as DJ for the remainder of its response. There is no disrespect intended in referring to West, Jr. as DJ, as it is done for clarity purposes and is how most of the witnesses refer to West, Jr. ² The verbatim report of proceedings contains numerous volumes, none of which are sequentially numbered. The State will refer to the report of proceedings by RP then the date of the proceeding followed by the page number.

before and West had never mentioned Booth as being a friend. RP (12/12/11) 191. Russell went into the house with West while Booth and McCarthy stayed outside. RP (12/12/11) 188, 201. Booth then came into the house to use the bathroom, leaving McCarthy outside. RP (12/12/11) 188, 202. Booth exited the bathroom and sat down next to DJ. RP (12/12/11) 188. Booth asked DJ questions regarding Porter's children, if they were DJ's brother and sister and if the two young children lived at the West residence. RP (12/12/11) 188. DJ told Booth that the children were his niece and nephew and they did not live at the West residence. RP (12/12/11) 188. Booth's questions made Porter uncomfortable. RP (12/12/11). Reynolds was also uncomfortable about the situation and he did not like that McCarthy was "outside scoping out the house." RP (12/12/1) 202. Russell emerged from the computer room with West and winked at Booth, who got up, and all three men left the West residence. RP (12/12/11) 189, 203. West appeared upset, which surprised Reynolds. RP (12/12/11) 203. West told Porter to pack up the children and go home immediately. RP (12/12/11) 190.

On August 20, 2010 West and Salts were preparing for a birthday party that was scheduled for August 21, 2010. RP (12/9/11) 129. Later that evening a good family friend, Tony

Williams, came over to the West residence to hang out. RP (12/9/11) 132-33. Later that evening, John Lindberg, another friend of West and Salts, went over to the West residence, arriving around 12:30 a.m. on August 21, 2010. RP (12/7/11) 117-18. When Lindberg pulled up to the residence he had to stop and be let in the gate. RP (12/7/11) 118-19. Lindberg noticed another car come speeding up the road behind him and shut off its lights. RP (12/7/11) 119. The other car drove up, turned around and backed in parking next to Lindberg's car. RP (12/7/11) 120. Lindberg walked up to the front door of the West residence and two men, identified by Lindberg as Booth and McCarthy, got out of the car and were right behind Lindberg when he knocked on the door. RP (12/7/11) 120-23. The three men were let into the house and all three sat down at the kitchen table and waited for West. RP (12/7/11) 121-22.

Lindberg had a conversation with Booth while sitting at the kitchen table. RP (12/7/11) 125-26. Booth asked West about a truck and West got on the computer to show Booth photographs of the truck. RP (12/7/11) 126-27. Booth asked West if they could step out back. RP (12/7/11) 130. West and Booth were outside for approximately 15 to 20 minutes. RP (12/7/11) 130. When West

returned to the kitchen his face was red and he appeared stressed out. RP (12/7/11) 146. West asked Lindberg if he had any money West could borrow. RP (12/7/11) 146. Lindberg told West he had 100 dollars West could borrow. RP (12/7/11). West then walked out of the kitchen and Lindberg followed West to the master bedroom. RP (12/7/11) 147. Lindberg informed West that he had more money but he did not want to tell West in front of Booth. RP (12/7/11) 148. Lindberg told West he could have the money. RP (12/7/11) 148. West told Lindberg, "Fuck it. I'm going to end this bullshit once and for all." RP (12/7/11) 148. West then grabbed a shotgun, walked out of the bedroom, cocked back the gun, aimed it towards the table and ordered Booth and McCarthy to leave. RP (12/7/11) 149, 201. The next thing Lindberg heard was rapid gunfire that was not from the shotgun. RP (12/7/11) 150-51. Lindberg heard three of four shots and saw West start to lean over and fall to the ground. RP (12/7/11) 151.

Salts was outside watering her tomatoes when she heard gunshots coming from inside the house. RP (12/9/11) 139. Salts entered the house from the back door near the kitchen. RP (12/9/11) 140. Salts walked through the door and saw McCarthy sitting at the kitchen table and Booth standing next to him. RP (12/9/11) 140. Booth said "How are you doing?" and then said something to Salts about calling the police. RP (12/9/11) 169. Salts saw West sitting down on the floor and realized something was wrong. RP (12/9/11) 141. Salts was about to walk back out the back door when Booth came to the door and shut it. RP (12/9/11) 141. Booth then shot Salts in the face. RP (12/9/11) 142. Salts fell to the floor and laid there until Booth left. RP (12/9/11) 143.

Lindberg heard Salts' voice and then a bang and Salts hitting the floor. RP (12/7/11) 151. Lindberg was hiding in the master bedroom. RP (12/7/11) 152. Lindberg heard Williams say, "Don't. You don't have to shoot." RP (12/7/11) 152. Lindberg heard what sounded like a magazine come out of gun and it sounded like the gun was jammed or Booth was reloading. RP (12/7/11) 152. Lindberg was pacing in the master bedroom thinking he was going to die next. RP (12/7/11) 153. Lindberg stated that he heard someone come down the hall and saw McCarthy go into DJ's room. RP (12/7/11) 153-54. According to Lindberg, DJ and Booth were in the hall and Booth grabbed DJ by the hair and was holding DJ down by West's head.³ RP (12/7/11) 154. Lindberg then described seeing Booth shoot West in the head. RP (12/7/11) 154. Lindberg

³ It should be noted that it is clear from other testimony that the man in the hallway was not West but was actually Williams.

explained that Booth and DJ walked away and while they had their backs turned Lindberg made a run for it and hid in the master bathroom. RP (12/7/11) 154. Lindberg closed the bathroom door and heard another gunshot and someone hit the floor, which he assumed was DJ. RP (12/7/11) 155. Lindberg hid in the bathroom for approximately 20 to 30 minutes. RP (12/7/11) 156. Lindberg then made a run for it, running out the front door of the West residence and ran for the gate. RP (12/7/11) 156-58. The vehicle Booth and McCarthy had arrived in was gone. RP (12/7/11) 158. At trial Lindberg testified, "Oh, it didn't take more than five minutes to kill everybody." RP (12/7/11) 168.

A neighbor called 911 and reported the shooting. RP (12/13/11) 113. Lewis County Sheriff's Deputies Curtis Spahn, Christopher Rubin, Matthew Wallace and Christopher Fulton along with Reserve Deputy Clarence Lupo initially responded to the shooting at 101 Wings Way. RP (12/7/11) 215, RP (12/13/11) 168, 213. While on his way to the scene Deputy Wallace saw a white Camaro that had been reported as leaving the site of the shooting. RP (12/7/11) 215. The Camaro stopped without being signaled to by Deputy Wallace and Deputy Wallace contacted the driver of the car, Lindberg. RP (12/7/11) 218-19. Lindberg was very nervous,

visibly shaking, unable to control his hands, crying and extremely excited. RP (12/7/11) 221-22. Lindberg told Deputy Wallace that Booth had done the shooting. RP (12/7/11) 233.

The deputies arrived at the West property, tactically approached the residence, knocked and announced and eventually made entry into the West residence. RP (12/13/11) 168-72. Deputy Wallace immediately announced there was a body on the floor. RP (12/13/11) 173. Deputies saw Salts lying on the kitchen floor, covered in blood, moaning and groaning. RP (12/13/11) 174, 230. Deputy Lupo stated that the kitchen floor looked like a slaughter house. RP (12/13/11) 233. There was blood on the floor that coagulated and the cabinets had what appeared to be marks on them in blood where someone was trying to get up. RP (12/13/11) 233. Salts had tried to scoot herself over to West, leaving the bloody mess in the kitchen. RP (12/9/11) 143-44. Salts was airlifted to Madigan Hospital where she was treated for a life-threatening gunshot wound to her face. RP (12/7/11) 109-10, 113; RP (12/13/11) 196.

West was found, deceased, partially propped up on a wall. RP (12/12/11) 215. There was a single-shot shotgun by West's side, lying parallel to West with the barrel facing towards the dining

room table. RP (12/12/11) 215. West sustained at least three gunshot wounds, one to the abdomen, one into his thigh and a third, fatal shot, to the head. RP (12-8-11) 52-57. DJ was found, deceased, between an end able and the couch. RP (12/12/11) 215. DJ sustained a close-range (less than two feet) gunshot wound to the left side of his head. RP (12/8/11) 38-39. The bullet entered the left side of DJ's head, exited the right side of his neck and then reentered his body around his collarbone. RP (12/8/11). DJ had a second gunshot wound that exited the left upper part of DJ's neck behind the left ear. RP (12/8/11) 45-46. This second gunshot was not likely the fatal shot. RP (12/8/11) 45-46. Williams was located, deceased, in the hallway between the east and west bedrooms. RP (12/12/11) 217. William's head was resting against the doorjamb area entering the east bedroom and his feet were at the west bedroom. RP (12/12/11) 217. Williams was shot in the head, in his right eye. RP (12/8/11) 58. Williams was shot at extremely close range and there was stippling and tattooing on Williams' face similar to that found on Salt's face. RP (12/8/11) 66. Williams was shot from approximately 10 inches away. RP (12/8/11) 76.

Booth called Gregory Sage around seven in the morning on August 21, 2010. RP (12/9/11) 112. Sage recalled that Booth was

not his normal composed self, but instead sounded frantic and anxious. RP (12/9/11) 112. Booth told Sage that a man had pulled a shotgun on Booth and he had to drop the man. RP (12/9/11) 113.

Booth was eventually located and arrested in Spokane. RP (12/13/11) 62-63. Booth had been staying at Michael Yeager's house while in Spokane. RP (12/7/11) 70. Yeager did not know Booth but allowed Booth to stay at his home because Yeager's neighbor had asked if Booth could stay at Yeager's house. RP (12/7/11) 70.

Detective Sergeant Breen listened to Booth's jail phone calls, which were being recorded. RP (12/13/11) 12-13. One call that caught Detective Sergeant Breen's attention was made by Booth to the Zacher residence in Spokane. RP (12/13/11) 14-15. On February 15, 2011 Booth spoke to Eric Zacher and told Zacher that Booth was concerned that he had left his "heater" on in Yeager's attic. Ex. 107.⁴ This statement caught Detective Sergeant Breen's attention because Booth had stayed with Yeager in August and the weather would not have been cold. RP (12/13/11) 18-19. Booth also asked Zacher to "shoot on over" to check on the heater. Ex. 107. Detective Sergeant Breen believed that Booth was

⁴ The State will be filing a supplemental designation of Clerk's papers designating exhibit 107 – the phone call from Booth to Eric Zacher.

discussing the location of the firearm used in the murders. RP (12/13/11) 18-19. Detective Sergeant Breen requested Spokane Police Department go back over to Yeager's residence and get a consent to search for the firearm. RP (12/13/1) 19. Detective Dave Knetchel with the Spokane County Sheriff's Office went back to Yeager's residence in February 2011 to attempt to locate the firearm. RP (12/7/11) 85-86. Detective Knetchel located a nine millimeter pistol in the attic in Yeager's garage. RP (12/7/11) 89, 93. The gun was found in a holster, loaded, with a bullet in the chamber. RP (12/7/11) 93. Testing of the undamaged bullets from the West home revealed they had been fired from the gun recovered in Yeager's attic. RP (12/12/11) 30, 68, 41-42, 45, 49, 54. The crime laboratory only found Booth's DNA on the gun. RP (12/9/11) 95.

The State charged Booth with Count I: Murder in the Second Degree, for the death of West; Count II: Murder in the First Degree, for the death of DJ; Count III: Murder in the First Degree, for the death of Williams; Count IV: Attempted Murder in the First Degree, for the shooting of Salts; Count V: Attempted Extortion in the First Degree; and Count VI: Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the Frist Degree. CP 69-75. The State alleged in Counts I-V that Booth was armed with a firearm. CP 69-74. The State alleged in Counts I-VI that Booth committed multiple current offenses, coupled with his high offender score, results in some of the current offenses going unpunished. CP 69-75. The State also alleged in Counts II and III that Booth demonstrated or displayed an egregious lack of remorse. CP 70-42.

Booth filed a number of pretrial motions, including a motion to change venue, a motion to suppress evidence and a motion to dismiss, which were denied by the trial court. RP (10/28/11) 66-78, 92-106; RP (11/21/11) 2-7; CP 52-56, 77, 89-315, 425-56.

Booth elected to have his case tried by a jury. See RP (12/5/11). The State presented its evidence and witnesses, including a number of people who testified regarding Booth's dealings with collecting drug debts in the Lewis County area. RP (12/12/11) 125-177. Booth testified in his own defense. RP (12/14/11) 60. Booth testified that he was a drug dealer who had met West in July 2010. RP (12/14/11) 61. According to Booth, he fronted West a pound of methamphetamine for the agreed price of 14,000 dollars, to be paid back to Booth in a week. RP (12/14/11) 61-62. West did not have all the money the following week so Booth and West agreed to a payment plan of 1,000 dollars a week.

RP (12/14/11) 62. Booth explained that on August 20, 2010 he went to the West home with a friend to collect the payment owed by West. RP (12/14/11) 62-64. West did not have the money when Booth arrived. RP (12/14/11) 63-64. Booth testified that he left his friend at the West residence to collect the money with the understanding that once West gave Booth's friend the money the friend would leave. RP (12/14/11) 63-64. Booth called Dee Draper to give his friend a ride. RP (12/14/11) 64. Booth stated he saw his friend the next day and the friend gave Booth the rundown of what had occurred at the West residence. RP (12/14/11). Booth testified that he took the gun from his friend and cleaned up with WD-40 with the intention of circulating the gun back on the street. RP (12/14/11) 65.

During cross-examination Booth refused to name the "friend" who Booth supposedly left at the West residence to collect the money. RP (12/14/11) 81-83. The deputy prosecutor asked for the name and Booth responded, "Joe Nameless." RP (12/14/11) 81. The deputy prosecutor asked again about "Joe Nameless" and Booth responded, "That or Joe Mama." RP (12/14/11) 83. The deputy prosecutor asked if this was funny to Booth and Booth

replied, "You're amusing me." RP (12/14/11) 83. Later during crossexamination the deputy prosecutor asked Booth if he had shot anyone else the evening of August 20, 2010. RP (12/14/11) 89. Booth responded, "Thinking about shooting you." RP (12/14/11) 89.

Booth was found guilty as charged on all six counts. CP 557-562. The jury also found that Booth was armed with a firearm and displayed or demonstrated an egregious lack of remorse.⁵ CP 563-69. Booth was sentenced as a persistent offender to life in prison. RP (12/16/11) 34-35; CP 634-42.

The State will supplement the facts as necessary throughout the argument below.

III. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. THE TO-CONVICT INSTRUCTIONS DID NOT CONTAIN MISTATEMENTS OF THE LAW AND THEREFORE BOOTH'S RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY WAS NOT VIOLATED BY THE LANGUAGE OF THE INSTRUCTIONS.

Booth contends that all of the to-convict instructions contain language that is a misstatement of the law and therefore Booth's constitutional right to a jury trial was violated. Brief of Appellant 13. Booth argues that the language, "then it will be your duty to return a

⁵ The State erred when it submitted Special Verdict Form A-1 and asked the jury to return a special verdict of whether Booth was armed with a deadly weapon at the time of the commission of Count I, Murder in the Second Degree. Therefore, Booth did not receive a firearm enhancement on Count I, he received a deadly weapon enhancement.

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